FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 12/26/2023 8:00 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/26/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON

CLERK 89

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 102670-6 COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 84694-9 ZHI H. FENG Petitioner, V Jen Turner, Liz Shier, Ghivizzani R Jean Nokes, Better Properties - Metro. Respondents

ZHI H. FENG/Petitioner, PRO SE

PETITION FOR REVIEW

206 395 4486 heredocs1@yahoo.com

Identity of Petitioner

The Petitioner is Zhi H. Feng.

Citation to Appellate Court's decision

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision to dismiss the case with prejudice and vacated Defendant Turner's vacate order. The Court of Appeals decision is attached in Appendix A.

Issues presented for review

Whether the summary judgment was properly granted when the pleadings and affidavits demonstrate there are genuine issues of material fact. Whether the case was properly dismissed with prejudice when there are new events, if proven, supporting claims warranting relief.

Whether the case was properly dismissed if the courts had not indicated on the record that it has considered less harsh sanctions.

Whether the default order was properly vacated when there is evidence showing Defendant Turner intentionally manipulates the system.

Statements of the Case

Factual Events

Feng leased Defendants' property in 2012. All parties agreed there was a sublet right agreement that allowed Feng to sublet the rooms in the rental property. (Res.Br.at 6) Feng alleged that Ms.Turner denied his sublet right on June 2020 (CP 388) and June 21, 2020. (CP 4, line 48)

Feng alleged Defendants demanded and executed an inspection on non-existent carpets. (App.Re.at 19, and CP 11, 12) Feng alleged Defendant Nokes dispatched an armed man to collect rent from him in force. (CP 442, 451) As a result, Feng claimed that he and his wife felt fear, (CP 454) embarrassment, (CP 269) shame, (CP 269) exhaustion, strain in their marriage, loss of consortium (CP 234) and insomnia. (CP 235, paragraph 5).

Procedure History

Feng filed a suit against Defendants. Among the claims are breach of agreement and intentional infliction of emotional distress.

Turner did not respond or appear within 20 days after being served with the summons. Feng filed a motion for default order against

Turner. The trial court granted the order but vacated it later.

Defendants filed a CR 12(b)(6). The trial court granted Defendants' motion and dismissed the case with prejudice. Feng appealed.

The appellate court affirmed the trial court's order to dismiss the case with prejudice.

Argument for Granting Review

A. The Court of Appeals' decision to affirm the dismissal with prejudice despite the pleadings and affidavits showing there is genuine issue of material fact is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court.

The appellate court decided to review the dismissal of the claims is de novo summary judgment. Summary judgment is properly granted when the pleadings, affidavits...on file demonstrate there is no genuine issue of material fact CR 56(c)1. Hutchins v. 1001 Fourth Ave. Assocs., 116 Wash.2d 217, 220, 802 P.2d 1360 (1991). ² The court must consider all facts submitted and all reasonable inferences from the facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Yakima Fruit & Cold Storage Co. v. Central Heating & Plumbing Co., supra; Wood v. Seattle, 57 Wn.2d 469, 473, 358 P.2d 140 (1960).3 The burden is on the party moving for summary judgment to demonstrate there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and reasonable inferences from the evidence must be resolved against the moving party. Lamon v. McDonnell Douglas Corp., 91 Wash.2d 345, 349, 588 P.2d 1346 (1979) (citing Morris v. McNicol, 83 Wash.2d 491, 494-95, 519 P.2d 7 (1974)).4 The motion should be granted only if, from all the evidence, a reasonable person could reach only one conclusion. Lamon, 91

1

¹ CR 56(c)

² Hutchins v. 1001 Fourth Ave. Assocs., 116 Wash.2d 217, 220, 802 P.2d 1360 (1991).

³ Yakima Fruit & Cold Storage Co. v. Central Heating & Plumbing Co., supra; Wood v. Seattle, 57 Wn.2d 469, 473, 358 P.2d 140 (1960).

⁴ Lamon v. McDonnell Douglas Corp., 91 Wash.2d 345, 349, 588 P.2d 1346 (1979) (citing Morris v. McNicol, 83 Wash.2d 491, 494-95, 519 P.2d 7 (1974)).

Wash.2d at 350, 588 P.2d 1346 (citing *Morris*, 305*305 83 Wash.2d at 494-95, 519 P.2d 7)⁵.

Feng alleged Defendants breached an agreement allowing him to sublet the extra rooms in the rental property, supported by his affidavits. (CP 388, CP 4, and the declaration on CP 6) The affidavits alleged two factual events: Defendant Turner denied Feng's sublet right during two personal meetings, one in June 2020 (CP 388) and another one in June 2021. (CP 4, the declaration on CP 6)

Whether Turner denied Feng's sublet right in the meetings in June 2020 and June 2021 is material fact for they would affect the outcome of the case.

"A material fact is one that affects the outcome of the litigation."

⁵ Lamon, 91 Wash.2d at 350, 588 P.2d 1346 (citing *Morris*, 305*305 83 Wash.2d at 494-95, 519 P.2d 7).

⁶ Owen v. Burlington N. Santa Fe R.R. Co., 153 Wash.2d 780, 789, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005).

The trial court, without addressing the alleged factual events, dismissed the case with prejudice, a decision subsequently affirmed by the appellate court. This contradicts the Supreme Court of Washington's directive that courts must consider all facts and that summary judgment is warranted only when the pleadings and affidavits demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. Id.

The appellate court did not find that Feng's affidavits are insufficient in its form. Even if this court found the affidavits are insufficient in its form, unless such insufficiencies are incurable, it should not be the grounds to dismiss the case with prejudice, for Washington favors resolving the cases over its merit rather than form and technicalities.

"In keeping with this mandate, Washington's appellate courts have strived to elevate substance over form, and decide cases on their merits." "The civil rules contain a preference for deciding cases on their merits rather than on procedural technicalities."

Defendants did not argue Feng's affidavits are insufficient.

Since Defendants did not argue that Feng's affidavits are

7

⁷ in Washington Reports: 2d Series and Vaughn v. Chung, 830 P. 2d 668 - Wash: Supreme Court 1992

insufficient, they may not raise such argument in this review pursuant to RAP 2.5(a) and the appellate court's decision.

"Feng briefly argues that the trial court erred by dismissing his claims prior to the completion of discovery. This argument is made for the first time on appeal and we therefore decline to consider it. See⁸ RAP 2.5(a)."

The burden is on the party moving for summary judgment to demonstrate there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and reasonable inferences from the evidence must be resolved against the moving party. *Lamon v. McDonnell Douglas Corp.*, 91 Wash.2d 345, 349, 588 P.2d 1346 (1979) (citing *Morris v. McNicol*, 83 Wash.2d 491, 494-95, 519 P.2d 7 (1974)). The moving party is Defendants for an appellate court engaged in the same inquiry as the trial court when reviewing an order for summary judgment. *Mountain Park Homeowners Ass'n v. Tydings*, 125 Wash.2d 337, 341, 883 P.2d 1383 (1994). The moving party is 125 Wash.2d 337, 341, 883 P.2d 1383 (1994).

⁸ RAP 2.5(a)

⁹ Lamon v. McDonnell Douglas Corp., 91 Wash.2d 345, 349, 588 P.2d 1346 (1979) (citing Morris v. McNicol, 83 Wash.2d 491, 494-95, 519 P.2d 7 (1974)).

¹⁰ Mountain Park Homeowners Ass'n v. Tydings, 125 Wash.2d 337, 341, 883 P.2d 1383 (1994).

Defendants did not dispute the alleged factual events that

Turner denied Feng's sublet right in their meetings in June 2020

and June 2021 in any of their pleadings. As a result, Defendants

not only failed their duty to demonstrate there is no genuine dispute

as to any material fact, but also may not raise any such arguments

in the review as any such argument is likely raised as the first time.

Id.

Defendants contended that emails (CP 10, 13, 17) indicated no denial of Feng's sublet right. However, these emails, dated August 8, 2020 (CP 10), and September 18, 2020 (CP 13 and 17), create gaps between June 2020 (Feng's alleged denial) and August 8, 2020 (email date, CP 10), and between June 2021 (Feng's alleged denial) and June 2022 (requested relief time ends). This time frame remains in dispute.

B. The appellate court's decision to uphold the dismissal with prejudice, despite new events occurring post-dismissal that support claims warranting relief for the plaintiff, conflicts with a Supreme Court decision.

The Washington Supreme Court has ruled The trial court's dismissal of the case with prejudice was improper, as there are new events that occurred after the dismissal that support claims warranting relief for the plaintiff. "Dismissal is inappropriate if new facts argued for the first time on appeal, that, if proven, would legally justify relief for the plaintiff." Halvorson v. Dahl, 574 P.2d 1190 - Wash: Supreme Court 1978; Mellon v. REGIONAL TRUSTEE SERVICES CORPORATION, 2014.

Defendants acknowledged that "additional facts may be considered for the first time on appeal." (Res.Br.at 39).

¹¹ Halvorson v. Dahl, 574 P.2d 1190 - Wash: Supreme Court 1978; Mellon v. REGIONAL TRUSTEE SERVICES CORPORATION, 2014

Feng alleged that Nokes dispatched an armed man to collect rent payment in force. Feng met that armed person face to face in front of his residence. The armed man identified his purpose was to collect unpaid rent for Nokes. There is a neighbor as a witness for the incident. (CP 458, 451) The allegations are supported by Feng's affidavits, (CP 442, 451), a detailed diagram of the incident, (CP 458) and police incident report number. (CP 442) (App.Br.at 94 - 96)

Feng has no obligation to prove such events on the appeal. However, if proven in trial, the new events support a claim warranting relief. A claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress requires the plaintiff to demonstrate "(1) extreme and outrageous conduct, (2) intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress, and (3) actual result to plaintiff of severe emotional distress." Trujillo v. Nw. Tr. Servs., Inc., 183 Wn.2d 820, 840, 355 P.3d 1100 (2015) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Lyons v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n, 181 Wn.2d 775, 792, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014))¹²

-

¹² Trujillo v. Nw. Tr. Servs., Inc., 183 Wn.2d 820, 840, 355 P.3d 1100 (2015) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Lyons v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n, 181 Wn.2d 775, 792, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014))

For element (1): Whether the aforementioned conducts are extreme and outrageous rests with the jury. 13 Contreras v. Crown Zellerbach Corp., supra at 743-45 (Stafford, J., concurring). See also Grimsby, at 60. The Washington Supreme Court has held that whether conduct constitutes extreme outrage, a fact element for intentional tort, is for the trier of fact to determine. Id.

For element (2) whether the aforementioned conducts are intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress. Sending an armed man to collect rent in force clearly is a deliberate act. "Intent ... could be presumed from the facts, which spoke for themselves." ld.

For element (3), alleged results to Feng of severe emotional distress, Feng has presented supporting declarations, including his own (CP 254), his wife's (CP 269), and another party's (CP 271).

¹³ Contreras v. Crown Zellerbach Corp., supra at 743-45 (Stafford, J., concurring). See also Grimsby, at 60.

These declarations illustrate the outcomes of Respondents' actions, encompassing fear (CP 454), embarrassment (CP 269), shame (CP 269), exhaustion, strain in their marriage, loss of consortium (CP 234), and insomnia (CP 235, paragraph 5).

C. The appellate court did not clearly indicate on the record that it had considered less harsh sanctions before affirming the dismissal with prejudice, conflicting with the Supreme Court's decision.

An appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court when reviewing an order for summary judgment¹⁴. *Mountain Park Homeowners Ass'n v. Tydings*, 125 Wash.2d 337, 341, 883 P.2d 1383 (1994). Before resorting to... dismissal, the trial court must clearly indicate on the record that it has considered less harsh sanctions.¹⁵ Rivers v. STATE CONF. OF MASON CONTRACTORS,

¹⁴ *Mountain Park Homeowners Ass'n v. Tydings*, 125 Wash.2d 337, 341, 883 P.2d 1383 (1994).

¹⁵ Rivers v. STATE CONF. OF MASON CONTRACTORS, 41 P. 3d 1175 - Wash: Supreme Court 2002, cited Rasmussen v. SAFECO INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA, 2005.

41 P. 3d 1175 - Wash: Supreme Court 2002, cited Rasmussen v. SAFECO INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA, 2005.

Furthermore, Division One had ruled, "A trial court's discretion under CR 41 (a)(4) to order dismissal with prejudice should be exercised only in limited circumstances where dismissal without prejudice would be pointless¹⁶" Gutierrez v. Icicle Seafoods, Inc., 2017.

The Appellate Court opined that Feng offers no explanation for how Turner, Shier, and Nokes would be liable for Metro's breach of contract, therefore, the breach of contract claim against them was properly dismissed [with prejudice.] (APP A at 10) There is no record that the appellate court had considered less harsh sanctions.

The deficiencies in the pleading can be rectified through a refiled complaint.

21

¹⁶ Gutierrez v. Icicle Seafoods, Inc., 2017.

A principal (Nokes) is liable for an act, error, or omission by an agency (Metro) of the principal (Nokes) arising out of an agency relationship if the principal (Nokes) participated in or authorized the act, error, or omission.¹⁷

if a corporate officer (Turner and Shier) participates in wrongful conduct or with knowledge approves of the conduct, then the officer (Turner and Shier), as well as the corporation (Metro), is liable for the penalties. ¹⁸ Grayson v. Nordic Constr. Co., 599 P. 2d 1271 - Wash: Supreme Court 1979.

When the Supreme Court ruled that the court must clearly indicate on the record that it has considered less harsh sanctions, it used the words "must." It leaves the lower court no discretion to decide otherwise. There is no record to indicate the appellate court or the trial court to consider less harsh sanctions. Therefore, the lower courts' decision to dismiss the case is in conflict with the Supreme Court's decision.

-

¹⁷ The Law of Real Estate Agency in Washington State.

¹⁸ Grayson v. Nordic Constr. Co., 599 P. 2d 1271 - Wash: Supreme Court 1979.

The appellate court noted in APP A at 17 that Feng's proposed amended complaint in the trial court was deemed futile, still failing to meet the stringent criterion, for the appellate court did not clearly express an opinion on the futility of re-amending or refiling the pleading.

D. It is a wrong message to the public to dismiss the case with prejudice when evidence shows a landlord intentionally violated a covenant of quiet enjoyment implied in the lease.

The Washington Supreme Court had ruled that "Generally, a covenant of quiet enjoyment secures the tenant from any wrongful act by the lessor which impairs the character and value of the leased premises or otherwise interferes with the tenant's quiet and peaceable use and enjoyment thereof." Ennis v. Ring, 341 P.2d 885 - Wash: Supreme Court, 2nd Dept. 1959, cited in VOTIV, INC. v. BAY VISTA OWNER LLC, 2019.

¹⁹ Ennis v. Ring, 341 P.2d 885 - Wash: Supreme Court, 2nd Dept. 1959, cited in VOTIV, INC. v. BAY VISTA OWNER LLC, 2019.

The appellate court opined that Landlords possess a statutory right to enter the rented premises in order to make necessary repairs, alterations, or improvements or to show the premises to prospective buyers.²⁰ RCW 59.18.150(1) Landlords must give notice before doing so and cannot use entry onto the premises to harass the tenant.²¹ RCW 59.18.150(6). (APP A at 13)

In June 2020, near the peak of COVID pandemic, Feng was behind on his rent for three months. With the rent moratorium in place, Defendants were not able to evict Feng but Defendants asked Feng voluntarily to move out. When Feng did not reply, Defendant Turner sent a notice to Feng to demand to inspect nonexistent carpets in the rental house. (App.Re.at 19, and CP 11, 12)

"We have had no response from you about our request to move out...! would like to schedule a walk-through...to ensure the downstairs carpet is still maintained. (CP 11) by Turner.

"Downstairs has no carpet. You have replaced it with the hardwood floor. (CP 12) by Feng.

²¹ RCW 59.18.150(6)

²⁰ RCW 59.18.150(1)

Defendant Turner went on to execute the inspection despite there being no carpet. There they met. There Turner denied Feng's sublet right. (CP 388)

Inspecting nonexistent carpets in the house does not align with any provision in RCW 59.18.150(1). It doesn't involve repairs, alterations, or improvements to anything in the house, nor does it relate to showcasing the premises to prospective buyers.

Considering the circumstances, a reasonable mind could discern the potential for abusing the right of access, deploying it to harass the tenant, when the official eviction was halted, and thereby violating the covenant of quiet enjoyment implied in the lease.

Abusing the right of entry to harass tenants, if proven, may support a claim justify a relief.

Moreover, the appellate court did not address this submitted fact before affirming the dismissal with prejudice, conflicting with a decision of the Supreme Court. Id.

E. The appellate court's decision to vacate

Defendant Turner's default order conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals, as there is evidence indicating that the defendant provided false statements under the penalty of perjury to secure the vacation of the default order.

Court of Appeals of Washington, Division 1 has ruled that "a motion to vacate a default order can only be granted if the defendant presents compelling evidence demonstrating that their failure to appear and respond to the lawsuit was a genuine mistake, rather than an intentional manipulation of the system. ²²" Ha v. Signal Elect., Inc., 182 Wn. App. 436, 451, 332 P.3d 991 (2014)

Evidence had shown Defendant Turner and Lee Smart making false statements in the motion to vacate Turner default order. The false statement influenced the trial court to vacate Turner's default order.

²²Ha v. Signal Elect., Inc., 182 Wn. App. 436, 451, 332 P.3d 991 (2014)

Lee Smart claimed omitting Turner's name on the notice of appearance was an error, citing Seller v. Longview Orthopedic Associates.²³ However, Lee Smart informed Feng that it did not represent Turner when it served Feng the notice of appearance.

"Attached please find the Notice of Appearance for Defendant Better Property - Metro. Please advise whether any attorneys have appeared for any other parties, and if so, please provide their contact information for us" (CP 136).

Lee Smart's paralegal further declares under penalty of perjury that the notice of appearance that only had Metro's name on it was true and correct. (CP 216 - 217)

It is not a good public policy to vacate the default order when there is evidence showing Turner and Lee Smart manipulation of the system in order to vacate the default order and is at odds with a decision of the Supreme Court in Griggs v. Averbeck Realty²⁴, "courts also recognize the need for a "responsive and responsible"

_

²³ Seller v. Longview Orthopedic Associates.

²⁴ Court in Griggs v. Averbeck Realty

legal system which mandates that parties comply with judicial summons."²⁵

The appellate court opined that Feng's default motion had violated KCLCR 55(a)(1)²⁶ and CR 55(a)(3)²⁷. KCLCR 55(a)(1) requires the moving party to file the default motion before the assigned judge when there has been an appearance by any non-moving party. CR 55(a)(3) required a moving party to serve any party who has appeared in the action for any purpose with a written notice of motion for default and the supporting affidavit at least 5 days before the hearing on the motion.

At that moment, Metro was the only party who filed the notice of appearance. The default motion did not name Metro as a party. Metro has no role in the default motion. Metro should not be considered as any party of the default motion, neither moving party nor non-moving party.

²⁵ Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, 599 P. 2d 1289 - Wash: Supreme Court 1979

²⁶ KCLCR 55(a)(1)

²⁷ CR 55(a)(3)

Since the non-moving parties, Turner, Shier, and Nokes did not appear at the time when Feng filed the motion of default, Feng may filed the motion of default with Ex Parte Pursuant to KCLCR 55(a)(1).²⁸

CR 55(a)(3)'s requirement that a moving party to serve any party who has appeared in the action at least 5 days before the hearing is referring to if there was a hearing in front of the assigned judge. Since the motion was filed with Ex Parte, there was no hearing. Feng had no duty to serve any party.

The appellate court opined that Metro may defend Turner Because their rights were so closely intertwined. (APP A at 6 - footnote). Therefore, if Feng served Metro's notice, Metro may have the right to defend Turner. Defendant Turner did not raise this argument in the trial court. Therefore, the appellate court must decline to consider it. Id.

Turner might contend that Metro is a party to the default motion due to their closely intertwined rights. However, Turner

29

²⁸ KCLCR 55(a)(1).

failed to raise this argument in the trial court or on appeal.

Therefore, Turner cannot introduce this argument in the present review pursuant to RAP 2.5(a) and the appellate court opinion. The appellate court has refused to consider Feng's arguments brought forth for the first time on appeal.

"Feng briefly argues that the trial court erred by dismissing his claims prior to the completion of discovery. This argument is made for the first time on appeal and we therefore decline to consider it. See²⁹ RAP 2.5(a)."

Conclusion

Feng requests this court to modify the trial court's order to dismiss the case without prejudice.

The brief contains 3752 words.

Isl Zhi H. Feng

Zhi H. Feng, pro se,

30

²⁹ RAP 2.5(a)

ZHI FENG - FILING PRO SE

December 25, 2023 - 9:23 PM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Court of Appeals Division I

Appellate Court Case Number: 84694-9

Appellate Court Case Title: Zhi H. Feng, Appellant v. Jen Turner, et al., Respondents

The following documents have been uploaded:

• 846949 Other 20231225212020D1142393 7394.pdf

This File Contains:

Other - Appendix A

The Original File Name was Appendix A.pdf

• 846949 Petition for Review 20231225212020D1142393 3545.pdf

This File Contains: Petition for Review

The Original File Name was Petition for Review.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

- Dan.Oates@millernash.com
- elena.thompson@millernash.com
- jne@leesmart.com
- jpd@leesmart.com
- kxc@leesmart.com
- pm@leesmart.com

Comments:

Sender Name: zhi feng - Email: heredocs1@yahoo.com

Address:

9801 63rd ave s seattle, WA, 98118 Phone: (206) 395-4486

Note: The Filing Id is 20231225212020D1142393