FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/30/2024 1:26 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/31/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102670-6

NO. 846949

COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

Zhi H (Frank) Feng,

Appellant (Plaintiff).

v.

Jen Turner Liz Shier Ghivizzani R Jean Nokes Better Properties - Metro,

Respondents (Defendants).

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffrey P. Downer, WSBA No. 12625 Pedro Melesio, WSBA No. 51322 LEE SMART, P.S., INC. 701 Pike Street, Suite 1800 Seattle, WA 98101-3929 (206) 624-7990 Attorneys for Respondents Better Properties - Metro, Turner, and Shier

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDING PARTY

Defendants-Respondents are Jen Turner, Liz Shier, and Better Properties-Metro (collectively, "Metro").

I. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

Feng v. Turner, No. 84694-9-I, 2023 WL 7297142 (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 6, 2023).

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether this Court should deny Plaintiff-Appellant Zhi H. Feng's petition for review under RAP 13.4(b), where:

- Mr. Feng fails to establish any basis for review under RAP 13.4;
- 2. Mr. Feng fails to establish the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with any other reported Washington decision that would warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2);
- 3. The Court of Appeals' decision is unpublished and therefore has no precedential value; and

4. This case involves no substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the present dispute involves no one but the parties to this action and will not recur.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Metro adopts by reference its Statement of the Case in their Joint Brief of Respondents to Division One Court of Appeals. However, Mr. Feng's Petition for Review attempts to distort the timeline of events and needs to be corrected.

Mr. Feng mischaracterizes the record by asserting that his claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress was based on the allegation that co-defendant Dr. R. Jean Nokes-Ghivizzani sent an armed man to the Rental Home to collect past due rent. Petition 17-19. The alleged incident with the gunman did not occur until after the Superior Court had dismissed his Complaint. CP 451. Mr. Feng's Complaint alleged intentional infliction of emotional distress based on the meritless claim that Metro performed unnecessary inspections and that Ms. Turner told Mr. Feng's wife that he lived with a

woman before her. CP 5-6. Mr. Feng falsely portrays these allegations as if they were all part of the original complaint when they were not.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Mr. Feng does not establish grounds for review under RAP 13.4.

Mr. Feng does not mention RAP 13.4 anywhere in his Petition for Review. RAP 13.4(b) provides that the Supreme Court will accept a petition for review only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Mr. Feng argues that the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with previous Washington Supreme Court and Court of Appeals decisions but does not cite RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2). Regardless, Mr. Feng misinterprets and misapplies those previous decisions and argues conclusions that are not compatible with the law.

Mr. Feng makes no argument that would suggest this case raises a significant question of law under the Washington or United States Constitution. Therefore, he concedes that review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Mr. Feng offers no argument that would suggest this case raises an issue of significant public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Mr. Feng briefly argues the Court of Appeals' decision sends a "wrong message to the public." Mr. Feng has failed to establish any grounds to review this case under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. The Court of Appeals' decision to affirm dismissal is not in conflict with any other Washington decision.

Mr. Feng's petition for review should be denied because it fails to satisfy either basis under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

Furthermore, nothing in RAP 13.4 or in Washington law entitles Mr. Feng to review by this Court simply because he disagrees with the Court of Appeals' decision:

[I]t is a mistake for a party seeking review to make the perceived injustice the focus of attention in the petition for review. RAP 13.4(b) says nothing in its criteria about correcting isolated instances of injustice. This is because the Supreme Court, in passing upon petitions for review, is not operating as a court of error. Rather, it is functioning as the highest policy-making judicial body of the state. ...

The Supreme Court's view in evaluating petitions is global in nature. Consequently, the primary focus of a petition for review should be on why there is a compelling need to have the issue or issues presented decided *generally*. The significance of the issues must be shown to transcend the particular application of the law in question. Each of the four alternative criteria of RAP 13.4(b) supports this view. The court accepts review sparingly, only approximately 10 percent of the time. Failure to show the court the "big

picture" will likely diminish the already statistically slim prospects of review.

Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook § 27.11 (1998) (italics in original).

The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any Supreme Court or Court of Appeals decision. Mr. Feng falsely claims that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with several Supreme Court decisions, but he misapplies the law to these facts.

Mr. Feng claims that the Court of Appeals did not consider all facts affirming the superior court's dismissal and this is in conflict with several Supreme Court decisions. Petition for Review at 11-13.

Mr. Feng is wrong. The Court of Appeals considered all the facts reviewed by the trial court including emails between the parties which the Court of Appeals found showed no evidence of breach of contract or breach of good faith and fair dealing. Opinion at 9-12.

Mr. Feng also asserts that the Court of Appeals did not find that his affidavits are insufficient and baselessly claims the case was dismissed on procedural technicalities in conflict with *Vaughn v. Chung*, 119 Wn.2d 273, 830 P.2d 668 (1992). Petition for Review at 13-14.

Vaughn is a Washington Supreme Court case that has nothing to do with the sufficiency of an affidavit. Instead, Vaughn determined whether a trial court may consider a party's motion to vacate a dismissal upon motion of the clerk for lack of prosecution. Vaughn, 119 Wn.2d at 274.

Regardless, Mr. Feng is wrong. The Court of Appeals opinion clearly considered the merits of Mr. Feng's case when affirming the superior court's dismissal and not on a procedural technicality. Opinion at 9–17.

Mr. Feng claims that the Court of Appeals erred when it did not indicate on the record that it had considered less harsh sanctions before affirming dismissal in conflict with *Rivers v*. *Wash. State Conf. of Mason Contractors*, 145 Wn.2d 674, 41

P.3d 1175 (2002). Petition for Review at 19-20. The Court in *Rivers* held that a court needs to make a record that it considered less harsh sanctions when dismissing a case as a sanction for discovery violations. *Id.* at 696. *Rivers* has nothing whatever to do with a dismissal on summary judgment.

Mr. Feng then claims that the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with *Gutierrez v. Icicle Seafoods, Inc.* 198 Wn. App. 549, 557-558, 394 P.3d 413 (2017). He argues that dismissal with prejudice should be exercised only in limited circumstances. Petition for Review at 20. Mr. Feng again cites case law that has nothing to do with the issues in this case. The *Gutierrez* Court determined a trial court's discretion to order a voluntary dismissal with prejudice. *Id.* at 557-558. There is no voluntary dismissal at issue in this case.

C. The Court of Appeals' decision to affirm the superior court's decision to vacate the order of default does not conflict with any other Washington decision.

As in his appeal brief to the Court of Appeals, Mr. Feng wrongly cites *Ha v. Signal Elec.*, *Inc.*, 182 Wn. App. 436, 332

P.3d 991 (2014), which analyzes the higher standard for vacating a default judgment, not a default order as was at issue in this action.

Here, the superior court vacated a default order, not a default judgment. The Court of Appeals affirmed, finding that Mr. Feng violated King County Superior Court LCR 55(a)(1) because he did not provide notice of his motion to a party that had appeared in the case. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with Washington precedent.

D. The Court of Appeals' decision is unpublished and has no precedential value.

Mr. Feng bases his Petition for Review on an unpublished decision by the Court of Appeals. Because the Court of Appeals' Decision is unpublished, it has no precedential value and is not binding on any court. GR 14.1(a). A court may consider an unpublished opinion for its persuasive value as the court deems appropriate. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals' decision here has no precedential value. Appellate courts are prohibited from citing or discussing

unpublished opinions in their opinions unless necessary for a reasoned decision. GR 14.1(c). Therefore, there is no realistic danger that the Court of Appeals' decision creates bad precedent because it is not precedent at all.

E. Mr. Feng does not establish grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Mr. Feng briefly argues that the Court of Appeals' decision sends the "wrong message" to the public but does not establish that the issues in this case are a matter of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Mr. Feng has the burden of persuading the Court that its petition involves an issue of substantial public interest because "the issue is recurring in nature or impacts a large number of persons." *Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook* at § 27.11. No reported Washington Supreme Court decision includes a detailed analysis of the "substantial public interest" criterion of RAP 13.4(b)(4), but this Court weighed what amounts to "public interest" when considering the related question of whether to decide a moot issue.

When determining the requisite degree of public interest, courts should consider (1) the public or private nature of the question presented, (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers, and (3) the likelihood of future recurrence of the question. *In re Mines*, 146 Wn.2d 279, 285, 45 P.3d 535 (2002) (internal quotation marks omitted). Where the Court has directly addressed the "substantial public interest" criterion of RAP 13.4(b)(4), it has used these principles. *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005).

In *Watson*, the issue was whether a prosecutor's office delivered a memo to all members of the bench regarding its decision not to recommend drug offender sentencing alternative (DOSA) sentences was an improper ex parte communication. This Court held that the Court of Appeals' decision was reviewable under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the ruling (1) could affect every sentencing proceeding involving a DOSA sentence; (2) created confusion and invited unnecessary litigation; and (3)

could chill policy actions by both attorneys and judges in the future. *Id*.

Here, Mr. Feng argues that the inspections that occurred at the property violated his covenant of quiet enjoyment. Petition for Review at 24. Mr. Feng raises this issue for the first time in this petition after previously claiming the inspections were intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress. Regardless, Mr. Feng does not establish that this issue is a matter of significant public interest that the Supreme Court must resolve.

Mr. Feng makes brief mention of potential abuses by landlords against tenants in violation of RCW 59.18.150(1). *Id.* However, the Court of Appeals held that the inspections did not violate the statute since he was given notice and the purpose of each inspection was statutorily permitted. Opinion at 13-14.

Further, the dispute here involved only these private parties, and Mr. Feng does not establish any likelihood that the situation will recur.

Therefore, RAP 13.4(b)(4) does not provide a basis for review of the Court of Appeals' decision.

v. CONCLUSION

Mr. Feng has presented no grounds under RAP 13.4 on which this Court should grant review. Accordingly, Metro respectfully request that Mr. Feng's Petition for Review be denied.